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§ 90.613 Prohibited acts; penalties.
(a) The importation of an engine

which is not covered by a certificate of
conformity other than in accordance
with this subpart and the entry regula-
tions of the U.S. Customs Service is
prohibited. Failure to comply with this
subpart is a violation of section 213(d)
and section 203 of the Act.

(b) Unless otherwise permitted by
this subpart, during a period of condi-
tional admission, the importer of an
engine shall not:

(1) Register, license, or operate the
engine in the United States; or

(2) Sell or offer the engine for sale.
(c) An engine conditionally admitted

pursuant to § 90.612(b), (d), or (e) and
not granted final admission within the
period of time specified for such condi-
tional admission in the written prior
approval obtained from EPA, or within
such additional time as designated by
the Administrator, is deemed to be un-
lawfully imported into the United
States in violation of section 213(d) and
section 203 of the Act, unless the en-
gine has been delivered to the U.S. Cus-
toms Service for export or other dis-
position under applicable Customs laws
and regulations. An engine not so de-
livered is subject to seizure by the U.S.
Customs Service.

(d) An importer who violates section
213(d) and section 203 of the Act is sub-
ject to a civil penalty under section 205
of the Act of not more than $25,000 for
each engine subject to the violation. In
addition to the penalty provided in the
Act, where applicable, under the ex-
emption provisions of § 90.612(b), a per-
son or entity who fails to deliver the
engine to the U.S. Customs Service is
liable for liquidated damages in the
amount of the bond required by appli-
cable Customs laws and regulations.

§ 90.614 Treatment of confidential in-
formation.

The provisions for treatment of con-
fidential information described in § 90.4
apply to this subpart.

Subpart H—Manufacturer
Production Line Testing Program

SOURCE: 64 FR 15245, Mar. 30, 1999, unless
otherwise noted.

§ 90.701 Applicability.
(a) The requirements of this subpart

are applicable to all Phase 2 nonroad
handheld and nonhandheld engines
families subject to the provisions of
subpart A of this part unless otherwise
exempted in this subpart.

(b) The procedures described in this
subpart are optional for small volume
engine manufacturers and small vol-
ume engine families as defined in this
part. Small volume engine manufactur-
ers and small volume engine families
for which the manufacturer opts not to
conduct testing under this subpart pur-
suant to this paragraph shall remain
subject to the Selective Enforcement
Auditing procedures of subpart F of
this part.

(c) Engine families for which the
manufacturer opts to conduct in-use
testing pursuant to subpart M of this
part are exempt from this subpart, but
shall remain subject to the Selective
Enforcement Auditing procedures of
subpart F of this part.

[64 FR 15245, Mar. 30, 1999, as amended at 65
FR 24313, Apr. 25, 2000

§ 90.702 Definitions.
The definitions in subpart A of this

part apply to this subpart. The fol-
lowing definitions also apply to this
subpart.

Configuration means any subclassi-
fication of an engine family which can
be described on the basis of gross
power, emission control system, gov-
erned speed, injector size, engine cali-
bration, and other parameters as des-
ignated by the Administrator.

Test sample means the collection of
engines selected from the population of
an engine family for emission testing.

§ 90.703 Production line testing by the
manufacturer.

(a) Manufacturers of small SI engines
shall test production line engines from
each engine family according to the
provisions of this subpart.

(b) Production line engines must be
tested using the test procedure speci-
fied in subpart E of this part except
that the Administrator may approve
minor variations that the Adminis-
trator deems necessary to facilitate ef-
ficient and economical testing where
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the manufacturer demonstrates to the
satisfaction of the Administrator that
such variations will not significantly
impact the test results. Any adjustable
engine parameter must be set to values
or positions that are within the range
recommended to the ultimate pur-
chaser, unless otherwise specified by
the Administrator. The Administrator
may specify values within or without
the range recommended to the ulti-
mate purchaser.

§ 90.704 Maintenance of records; sub-
mission of information.

(a) The manufacturer of any new
small SI engine subject to any of the
provisions of this subpart must estab-
lish, maintain, and retain the following
adequately organized and indexed
records:

(1) General records. A description of
all equipment used to test engines in
accordance with § 90.703. Subpart D of
this part sets forth relevant equipment
requirements in §§ 90.304, 90.305, 90.306,
90.307, 90.308, 90.309, 90.310 and 90.313.

(2) Individual records. These records
pertain to each production line test
conducted pursuant to this subpart and
include:

(i) The date, time, and location of
each test;

(ii) The number of hours of service
accumulated on the test engine when
the test began and ended;

(iii) The names of all supervisory per-
sonnel involved in the conduct of the
production line test;

(iv) A record and description of any
adjustment, repair, preparation or
modification performed prior to and/or
subsequent to approval by the Admin-
istrator pursuant to § 90.707(b)(1), giv-
ing the date, associated time, justifica-
tion, name(s) of the authorizing per-
sonnel, and names of all supervisory
personnel responsible for the conduct
of the repair;

(v) If applicable, the date the engine
was shipped from the assembly plant,
associated storage facility or port fa-
cility, and the date the engine was re-
ceived at the testing facility;

(vi) A complete record of all emission
tests performed pursuant to this sub-
part (except tests performed directly
by EPA), including all individual work-
sheets and/or other documentation re-

lating to each test, or exact copies
thereof, in accordance with the record
requirements specified in §§ 90.405 and
90.406; and

(vii) A brief description of any sig-
nificant events during testing not oth-
erwise described under paragraph (a)(2)
of this section, commencing with the
test engine selection process and in-
cluding such extraordinary events as
engine damage during shipment.

(3) The manufacturer must establish,
maintain and retain general records,
pursuant to paragraph (a)(1) of this sec-
tion, for each test cell that can be used
to perform emission testing under this
subpart.

(b) The manufacturer must retain all
records required to be maintained
under this subpart for a period of one
year after completion of all testing re-
quired for the engine family in a model
year. Records may be retained as hard
copy (i.e., on paper) or reduced to
microfilm, floppy disk, or some other
method of data storage, depending
upon the manufacturer’s record reten-
tion procedure; provided, that in every
case, all the information contained in
the hard copy is retained.

(c) The manufacturer must, upon re-
quest by the Administrator, submit the
following information with regard to
engine production:

(1) Projected production or actual
production for each engine configura-
tion within each engine family for
which certification has been requested
and/or approved;

(2) Number of engines, by configura-
tion and assembly plant, scheduled for
production or actually produced.

(d) Nothing in this section limits the
Administrator’s discretion to require a
manufacturer to establish, maintain,
retain or submit to EPA information
not specified by this section and other-
wise permitted by law.

(e) All reports, submissions, notifica-
tions, and requests for approval made
under this subpart must be addressed
to: Manager, Engine Compliance Pro-
grams Group (6403J), U.S. Environ-
mental Protection Agency, Wash-
ington, DC 20460.

(f) The manufacturer must electroni-
cally submit the results of its produc-
tion line testing using EPA’s standard-
ized format. The Administrator may
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exempt manufacturers from this re-
quirement upon written request with
supporting justification.

§ 90.705 Right of entry and access.
(a) To allow the Administrator to de-

termine whether a manufacturer is
complying with the provisions of this
subpart or other subparts of this part,
one or more EPA enforcement officers
may enter during operating hours and
upon presentation of credentials any of
the following places:

(1) Any facility, including ports of
entry, where any engine to be intro-
duced into commerce or any emission-
related component is manufactured,
assembled, or stored;

(2) Any facility where any test con-
ducted pursuant to this or any other
subpart or any procedure or activity
connected with such test is or was per-
formed;

(3) Any facility where any test engine
is present; and

(4) Any facility where any record re-
quired under § 90.704 or other document
relating to this subpart or any other
subpart of this part is located.

(b) Upon admission to any facility re-
ferred to in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion, EPA enforcement officers are au-
thorized to perform the following in-
spection-related activities:

(1) To inspect and monitor any aspect
of engine manufacture, assembly, stor-
age, testing and other procedures, and
to inspect and monitor the facilities in
which these procedures are conducted;

(2) To inspect and monitor any aspect
of engine test procedures or activities,
including test engine selection, prepa-
ration and service accumulation, emis-
sion test cycles, and maintenance and
verification of test equipment calibra-
tion;

(3) To inspect and make copies of any
records or documents related to the as-
sembly, storage, selection, and testing
of an engine; and

(4) To inspect and photograph any
part or aspect of any engine and any
component used in the assembly there-
of that is reasonably related to the
purpose of the entry.

(c) EPA enforcement officers are au-
thorized to obtain reasonable assist-
ance without cost from those in charge
of a facility to help the officers per-

form any function listed in this sub-
part and they are authorized to request
the manufacturer to make arrange-
ments with those in charge of a facility
operated for the manufacturer’s benefit
to furnish reasonable assistance with-
out cost to EPA.

(1) Reasonable assistance includes,
but is not limited to, clerical, copying,
interpretation and translation services;
the making available on an EPA en-
forcement officer’s request of personnel
of the facility being inspected during
their working hours to inform the EPA
enforcement officer of how the facility
operates and to answer the officer’s
questions; and the performance on re-
quest of emission tests on any engine
which is being, has been, or will be
used for production line or other test-
ing.

(2) By written request, signed by the
Assistant Administrator for Air and
Radiation, and served on the manufac-
turer, a manufacturer may be com-
pelled to cause the personal appearance
of any employee at such a facility be-
fore an EPA enforcement officer. Any
such employee who has been instructed
by the manufacturer to appear will be
entitled to be accompanied, rep-
resented, and advised by counsel.

(d) EPA enforcement officers are au-
thorized to seek a warrant or court
order authorizing the EPA enforcement
officers to conduct the activities au-
thorized in this section, as appropriate,
to execute the functions specified in
this section. EPA enforcement officers
may proceed ex parte to obtain a war-
rant or court order whether or not the
EPA enforcement officers first at-
tempted to seek permission from the
manufacturer or the party in charge of
the facility(ies) in question to conduct
the activities authorized in this sec-
tion.

(e) A manufacturer must permit an
EPA enforcement officer(s) who pre-
sents a warrant or court order to con-
duct the activities authorized in this
section as described in the warrant or
court order. The manufacturer must
also cause those in charge of its facil-
ity or a facility operated for its benefit
to permit entry and access as author-
ized in this section pursuant to a war-
rant or court order whether or not the
manufacturer controls the facility. In
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the absence of a warrant or court
order, an EPA enforcement officer(s)
may conduct the activities authorized
in this section only upon the consent of
the manufacturer or the party in
charge of the facility(ies) in question.

(f) It is not a violation of this part or
the Clean Air Act for any person to
refuse to permit an EPA enforcement
officer(s) to conduct the activities au-
thorized in this section if the officer(s)
appears without a warrant or court
order.

(g) A manufacturer is responsible for
locating its foreign testing and manu-
facturing facilities in jurisdictions
where local law does not prohibit an
EPA enforcement officer(s) from con-
ducting the entry and access activities
specified in this section. EPA will not
attempt to make any inspections
which it has been informed local for-
eign law prohibits.

§ 90.706 Engine sample selection.
(a) At the start of each model year,

the small SI engine manufacturer will
begin to randomly select engines from
each engine family for production line
testing at a rate of one percent of the
projected production of that family.
Each engine will be selected from the
end of the assembly line.

(1) For newly certified engine families:
After two engines are tested, the man-
ufacturer will calculate the required
sample size for the model year for each
pollutant (HC+NOX(NMHC+NOX) and
CO) according to the Sample Size

Equation in paragraph (b) of this sec-
tion.

(2) For carry-over engine families: After
one engine is tested, the manufacturer
will combine the test with the last test
result from the previous model year
and then calculate the required sample
size for the model year for each pollut-
ant according to the Sample Size Equa-
tion in paragraph (b) of this section.

(b)(1) Manufacturers will calculate
the required sample size for the model
year for each pollutant for each engine
family using the Sample Size Equation
in this paragraph. N is calculated for
each pollutant from each test result.
The higher of the two values for the
number N indicates the number of tests
required for the model year for an en-
gine family. N is recalculated for each
pollutant after each test. Test results
used to calculate the variables in the
following Sample Size Equation must
be final deteriorated test results as
specified in § 90.709(c).

N
t

x FEL
=

∗( )
−( )













+95
2

1
σ

Where:

N = required sample size for the model year.
95 = 95% confidence coefficient. It is depend-

ent on the actual number of tests com-
pleted, n, as specified in the table in para-
graph (b)(2) of this section. It defines one-
tail, 95% confidence intervals.

σ = actual test sample standard deviation
calculated from the following equation:

σ =
−( )

−
∑ X x

n
i

2

1

xi = emission test result for an individual en-
gine.

x = mean of emission test results of the ac-
tual sample.

FEL = Family Emission Limit or standard if
no FEL.

n = The actual number of tests completed in
an engine family.

(2) The following table specifies the
Actual Number of Tests (n) & 1-tail
Confidence Coefficients (t95):

n t95 n t95 n t95

2 .................................................................................................................. 6.31 12 1.80 22 1.72
3 .................................................................................................................. 2.92 13 1.78 23 1.72
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n t95 n t95 n t95

4 .................................................................................................................. 2.35 14 1.77 24 1.71
5 .................................................................................................................. 2.13 15 1.76 25 1.71
6 .................................................................................................................. 2.02 16 1.75 26 1.71
7 .................................................................................................................. 1.94 17 1.75 27 1.71
8 .................................................................................................................. 1.90 18 1.74 28 1.70
9 .................................................................................................................. 1.86 19 1.73 29 1.70
10 ................................................................................................................ 1.83 20 1.73 30 1.70
11 ................................................................................................................ 1.81 21 1.72 ∞ 1.645

(3) A manufacturer must distribute
the testing of the remaining number of
engines needed to meet the required
sample size N, evenly throughout the
remainder of the model year.

(4) After each new test, the required
sample size, N, is recalculated using
updated sample means, sample stand-
ard deviations and the appropriate 95%
confidence coefficient.

(5) A manufacturer must continue
testing and updating each engine fam-
ily’s sample size calculations according
to paragraphs (b)(1) through (b)(4) of
this section until a decision is made to
stop testing as described in paragraph
(b)(6) of this section or a noncompli-
ance decision is made pursuant to
§ 90.710(b).

(6) If, at any time throughout the
model year, the calculated required
sample size, N, for an engine family is
less than or equal to the actual sample
size, n, and the sample mean, x, for HC
+ NOX (NMHC+NOX) and CO is less than
or equal to the FEL or standard if no
FEL, the manufacturer may stop test-
ing that engine family.

(7) If, at any time throughout the
model year, the sample mean, x, for HC
+ NOX (NMHC+NOX) or CO is greater
than the FEL or standard if no FEL,
the manufacturer must continue test-
ing that engine family at the appro-
priate maximum sampling rate.

(8) The maximum required sample
size for an engine family (regardless of
the required sample size, N, as cal-
culated in paragraph (b)(1) of this sec-
tion) is the lesser of thirty tests per
model year or one percent of projected
annual production for that engine fam-
ily for that model year.

(9) Manufacturers may elect to test
additional engines. Additional engines,
whether tested in accordance with the
testing procedures specified in § 90.707
or not, may not be included in the
Sample Size and Cumulative Sum

equation calculations as defined in
paragraph (b)(1) of this section and
§ 90.708(a), respectively. However, such
additional test results may be used as
appropriate to ‘‘bracket’’ or define the
boundaries of the production duration
of any emission nonconformity deter-
mined under this subpart. Such addi-
tional test data must be identified and
provided to EPA with the submittal of
the official CumSum results.

(c) The manufacturer must produce
and assemble the test engines using its
normal production and assembly proc-
ess for engines to be distributed into
commerce.

(d) No quality control, testing, or as-
sembly procedures shall be used on any
test engine or any portion thereof, in-
cluding parts and subassemblies, that
have not been or will not be used dur-
ing the production and assembly of all
other engines of that family, unless the
Administrator approves the modifica-
tion in production or assembly proce-
dures in advance.

[64 FR 15245, Mar. 30, 1999; 64 FR 34313, June
25, 1999; 64 FR 35256, June 30, 1999; 64 FR
36423, July 6, 1999]

§ 90.707 Test procedures.

(a)(1) For small SI engines subject to
the provisions of this subpart, the pre-
scribed test procedures are specified in
subpart E of this part.

(2) The Administrator may, on the
basis of a written application by a
manufacturer, prescribe test proce-
dures other than those specified in
paragraph (a)(1) of this section for any
small SI engine the Administrator de-
termines is not susceptible to satisfac-
tory testing using procedures specified
in paragraph (a)(1) of this section.

(b)(1) The manufacturer may not ad-
just, repair, prepare, or modify any
test engine and may not perform any
emission test on any test engine unless
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this adjustment, repair, preparation,
modification and/or test is documented
in the manufacturer’s engine assembly
and inspection procedures and is actu-
ally performed by the manufacturer on
every production line engine or unless
this adjustment, repair, preparation,
modification and/or test is required or
permitted under this subpart or is ap-
proved in advance by the Adminis-
trator.

(2) The Administrator may adjust or
cause to be adjusted any engine param-
eter which the Administrator has de-
termined to be subject to adjustment
for certification, Production Line Test-
ing and Selective Enforcement Audit
testing, to any setting within the phys-
ically adjustable range of that param-
eter, as determined by the Adminis-
trator, prior to the performance of any
test. However, if the idle speed param-
eter is one which the Administrator
has determined to be subject to adjust-
ment, the Administrator may not ad-
just it or require that it be adjusted to
any setting which causes a lower en-
gine idle speed than would have been
possible within the physically adjust-
able range of the idle speed parameter
if the manufacturer had accumulated
12 hours of service on the engine under
paragraph (c) of this section, all other
parameters being identically adjusted
for the purpose of the comparison. The
manufacturer may be requested to sup-
ply information necessary to establish
an alternate minimum idle speed. The
Administrator, in making or specifying
these adjustments, may consider the
effect of the deviation from the manu-
facturer’s recommended setting on
emission performance characteristics
as well as the likelihood that similar
settings will occur on in-use engines.
In determining likelihood, the Admin-
istrator may consider factors such as,
but not limited to, the effect of the ad-
justment on engine performance char-
acteristics and information from simi-
lar in-use engines.

(c) Service accumulation. (1) Unless
otherwise approved by the Adminis-
trator, prior to performing exhaust
emission production line testing, the
manufacturer may accumulate up to 12
hours of service on each test engine.
For catalyst-equipped engines, the
manufacturer must accumulate a num-

ber of hours equal to the number of
hours accumulated to represent sta-
bilized emissions on the engine used to
obtain certification.

(2) Service accumulation must be
performed in a manner using good engi-
neering judgment to obtain emission
results representative of production
line engines.

(d) Unless otherwise approved by the
Administrator, the manufacturer may
not perform any maintenance on test
engines after selection for testing.

(e) If an engine is shipped to a remote
facility for production line testing, and
an adjustment or repair is necessary
because of shipment, the engine manu-
facturer must perform the necessary
adjustment or repair only after the ini-
tial test of the engine, except in cases
where the Administrator has deter-
mined that the test would be impos-
sible or unsafe to perform or would per-
manently damage the engine. Engine
manufacturers must report to the Ad-
ministrator, in the quarterly report re-
quired by § 90.709(e), all adjustments or
repairs performed on test engines prior
to each test.

(f) If an engine cannot complete the
service accumulation or an emission
test because of a malfunction, the man-
ufacturer may request that the Admin-
istrator authorize either the repair of
that engine or its deletion from the
test sequence.

(g) Testing. A manufacturer must test
engines with the test procedure speci-
fied in subpart E of this part to dem-
onstrate compliance with the applica-
ble FEL (or standard where there is no
FEL). If alternate or special test proce-
dures pursuant to regulations at § 90.120
are used in certification, then those al-
ternate procedures must be used in pro-
duction line testing.

(h) Retesting. (1) If an engine manu-
facturer reasonably determines that an
emission test of an engine is invalid be-
cause of a procedural error, test equip-
ment problem, or engine performance
problem that causes the engine to be
unable to safely perform a valid test,
the engine may be retested. A test is
not invalid simply because the emis-
sion results are high relative to other
engines of the family. Emission results
from all tests must be reported to EPA.
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The engine manufacturer must also in-
clude a detailed explanation of the rea-
sons for invalidating any test in the
quarterly report required in § 90.709(e).
If a test is invalidated because of an
engine performance problem, the man-
ufacturer must document in detail the
nature of the problem and the repairs
performed in order to use the after-re-
pair test results for the original test
results.

(2) Routine retests may be conducted
if the manufacturer conducts the same
number of tests on all engines in the
family. The results of these tests must
be averaged according to procedures of
§ 90.709.

§ 90.708 Cumulative Sum (CumSum)
procedure.

(a) (1) Manufacturers must construct
separate CumSum Equations for each
regulated pollutant (HC+NOX

(NMHC+NOX) and CO) for each engine
family. Test results used to calculate
the variables in the CumSum Equa-
tions must be final deteriorated test
results as defined in § 90.709(c). The
CumSum Equation is constructed as
follows:

Ci=max[0 0R (Ci-1+Xi¥(FEL+F))]

Where:
Ci=The current CumSum statistic.
Ci-1=The previous CumSum statistic. Prior to

any testing, the CumSum statistic=0 (i.e.
C0=0).

Xi=The current emission test result for an
individual engine.

FEL=Family Emission Limit (the standard
if no FEL).

F=.25×σ.

(2) After each test pursuant to para-
graph (a)(1) of this section, Ci is com-
pared to the action limit, H, the quan-
tity which the CumSum statistic must
exceed, in two consecutive tests, before
the engine family may be determined
to be in noncompliance for a regulated
pollutant for purposes of § 90.710.
Where:
H=The Action Limit. It is 5.0×σ, and is a

function of the standard deviation, σ.
σ=is the sample standard deviation and is re-

calculated after each test.

(b) After each engine is tested, the
CumSum statistic shall be promptly
updated according to the CumSum
Equation in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion.

(c)(1) If, at any time during the
model year, a manufacturer amends
the application for certification for an
engine family as specified in § 90.122(a)
by performing an engine family modi-
fication (i.e. a change such as a run-
ning change involving a physical modi-
fication to an engine, a change in spec-
ification or setting, the addition of a
new configuration, or the use of a dif-
ferent deterioration factor) with no
changes to the FEL (where applicable),
all previous sample size and CumSum
statistic calculations for the model
year will remain unchanged.

(2) If, at any time during the model
year, a manufacturer amends the appli-
cation for certification for an engine
family as specified in § 90.122 (a) by
modifying its FEL (where applicable)
for future production, as a result of an
engine family modification, the manu-
facturer must continue its calculations
by inserting the new FEL into the sam-
ple size equation as specified in
§ 90.706(b)(1) and into the CumSum
equation in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion. All previous calculations remain
unchanged. If the sample size calcula-
tion indicates that additional tests are
required, then those tests must be per-
formed. CumSum statistic calculations
must not indicate that the family has
exceeded the action limit for two con-
secutive tests. Where applicable, the
manufacturer’s final credit report as
required by § 90.210 must break out the
credits that result from each FEL and
corresponding CumSum analysis for
the set of engines built to each FEL.

(3) If, at any time during the model
year, a manufacturer amends the appli-
cation for certification for an engine
family as specified in § 90.122 (a) (or for
an affected part of the year’s produc-
tion in cases where there were one or
more mid-year engine family modifica-
tions), by modifying its FEL (where ap-
plicable) for past and/or future produc-
tion, without performing an engine
modification, all previous sample size
and CumSum statistic calculations for
the model year must be recalculated
using the new FEL. If the sample size
calculation indicates that additional
tests are required, then those tests
must be performed. The CumSum sta-
tistic recalculation must not indicate
that the family has exceeded the action
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limit for two consecutive tests. Where
applicable, the manufacturer’s final
credit report as required by § 90.210
must break out the credits that result
from each FEL and corresponding
CumSum analysis for the set of engines
built to each FEL.

§ 90.709 Calculation and reporting of
test results.

(a) Initial test results are calculated
following the applicable test procedure
specified in § 90.707 (a). The manufac-
turer rounds these results to the num-
ber of decimal places contained in the
applicable emission standard expressed
to one additional significant figure.

(b) Final test results are calculated
by summing the initial test results de-
rived in paragraph (a) of this section
for each test engine, dividing by the
number of tests conducted on the en-
gine, and rounding to the same number
of decimal places contained in the ap-
plicable standard expressed to one ad-
ditional significant figure.

(c) The final deteriorated test results
for each test engine are calculated by
applying the appropriate deterioration
factors, derived in the certification
process for the engine to the final test
results, and rounding to the same num-
ber of decimal places contained in the
applicable standard.

(d) If, at any time during the model
year, the CumSum statistic exceeds
the applicable action limit, H, in two
consecutive tests for any regulated pol-
lutant, (HC+NOX (NMHC+NOX) or CO)
the engine family may be determined
to be in noncompliance and the manu-
facturer must notify EPA by con-
tacting its official EPA certification
representative within ten working days
of such exceedance by the CumSum
statistic.

(e) Within 45 calendar days of the end
of each quarter, each engine manufac-
turer must submit to the Adminis-
trator a report which includes the fol-
lowing information:

(1) The location and description of
the manufacturer’s or other’s exhaust
emission test facilities which were uti-
lized to conduct testing reported pursu-
ant to this section;

(2) Total production and sample sizes,
N and n, for each engine family;

(3) The FEL (standard, if no FEL)
against which each engine family was
tested;

(4) A description of the process to ob-
tain engines on a random basis;

(5) A description of the test engines;
(6) For each test conducted:
(i) A description of the test engine,

including:
(A) Configuration and engine family

identification;
(B) Year, make, and build date;
(C) Engine identification number;

and
(D) Number of hours of service accu-

mulated on engine prior to testing;
(ii) Location where service accumula-

tion was conducted and description of
accumulation procedure and schedule;

(iii) Test number, date, test proce-
dure used, initial test results before
and after rounding, final test results
before and after rounding and final de-
teriorated test results for all exhaust
emission tests, whether valid or in-
valid, and the reason for invalidation,
if applicable;

(iv) A complete description of any ad-
justment, modification, repair, prepa-
ration, maintenance, and/or testing
which was performed on the test en-
gine, was not reported pursuant to any
other paragraph of this subpart, and
will not be performed on all other pro-
duction engines;

(v) A CumSum analysis, as required
in § 90.708, of the production line test
results for each engine family; and

(vi) Any other information the Ad-
ministrator may request relevant to
the determination whether the new en-
gines being manufactured by the manu-
facturer do in fact conform with the
regulations with respect to which the
certificate of conformity was issued;

(7) For each failed engine as defined
in § 90.710(a), a description of the rem-
edy and test results for all retests as
required by § 90.711(g);

(8) The date of the end of the engine
manufacturer’s model year production
for each engine family; and

(9) The following signed statement
and endorsement by an authorized rep-
resentative of the manufacturer:

This report is submitted pursuant to Sec-
tions 213 and 208 of the Clean Air Act. This
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production line testing program was con-
ducted in complete conformance with all ap-
plicable regulations under 40 CFR Part 90.
No emission-related changes to production
processes or quality control procedures for
the engine family tested have been made
during this production line testing program
that affect engines from the production line.
All data and information reported herein is,
to the best of (Company Name) knowledge,
true and accurate. I am aware of the pen-
alties associated with violations of the Clean
Air Act and the regulations thereunder. (Au-
thorized Company Representative.)

§ 90.710 Compliance with criteria for
production line testing.

(a) A failed engine is one whose final
deteriorated test results pursuant to
§ 90.709(c), for HC+NOX (NMHC+NOX) or
CO exceeds the applicable Family
Emission Limit (FEL) or standard if no
FEL.

(b) An engine family shall be deter-
mined to be in noncompliance, if at
any time throughout the model year,
the CumSum statistic, Ci, for HC+NOX

(NMHC+NOX) or CO, is greater than the
action limit, H, for that pollutant, for
two consecutive tests.

§ 90.711 Suspension and revocation of
certificates of conformity.

(a) The certificate of conformity is
suspended with respect to any engine
failing pursuant to § 90.710(a) effective
from the time that testing of that en-
gine is completed.

(b) The Administrator may suspend
the certificate of conformity for an en-
gine family which is determined to be
in noncompliance pursuant to
§ 90.710(b). This suspension will not
occur before thirty days after the en-
gine family is determined to be in non-
compliance and the Administrator has
notified the manufacturer of its intent
to suspend. During this thirty day pe-
riod the Administrator will work with
the manufacturer to achieve appro-
priate production line changes to avoid
the need to halt engine production, if
possible. The Administrator will ap-
prove or disapprove any such produc-
tion line changes proposed to address a
family that has been determined to be
in noncompliance under this subpart
within 15 days of receipt. If the Admin-
istrator does not approve or disapprove
such a proposed change within such

time period, the proposed change shall
be considered approved.

(c) If the results of testing pursuant
to the regulations in this subpart indi-
cate that engines of a particular family
produced at one plant of a manufac-
turer do not conform to the regulations
in this part with respect to which the
certificate of conformity was issued,
the Administrator may suspend the
certificate of conformity with respect
to that family for engines manufac-
tured by the manufacturer at all other
plants.

(d) Notwithstanding the fact that en-
gines described in the application for
certification may be covered by a cer-
tificate of conformity, the Adminis-
trator may suspend such certificate
immediately in whole or in part if the
Administrator finds any one of the fol-
lowing infractions to be substantial:

(1) The manufacturer refuses to com-
ply with any of the requirements of
this subpart.

(2) The manufacturer submits false or
incomplete information in any report
or information provided to the Admin-
istrator under this subpart.

(3) The manufacturer renders inac-
curate any test data submitted under
this subpart.

(4) An EPA enforcement officer is de-
nied the opportunity to conduct activi-
ties authorized in this subpart and a
warrant or court order is presented to
the manufacturer or the party in
charge of the facility in question.

(5) An EPA enforcement officer is un-
able to conduct activities authorized in
§ 90.705 because a manufacturer has lo-
cated its facility in a foreign jurisdic-
tion where local law prohibits those ac-
tivities.

(e) The Administrator shall notify
the manufacturer in writing of any sus-
pension or revocation of a certificate of
conformity in whole or in part, except
that the certificate is immediately sus-
pended with respect to any failed en-
gines as provided for in paragraph (a)
of this section.

(f) The Administrator may revoke a
certificate of conformity for an engine
family after the certificate has been
suspended pursuant to paragraph (b) or
(c) of this section if the proposed rem-
edy for the nonconformity, as reported
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by the manufacturer to the Adminis-
trator, is one requiring a design change
or changes to the engine and/or emis-
sion control system as described in the
application for certification of the af-
fected engine family.

(g) Once a certificate has been sus-
pended for a failed engine, as provided
for in paragraph (a) of this section, the
manufacturer must take the following
actions before the certificate is rein-
stated for that failed engine:

(1) Remedy the nonconformity;
(2) Demonstrate that the engine con-

forms to the applicable standards
(FELs, where applicable) by retesting
the engine in accordance with these
regulations; and

(3) Submit a written report to the
Administrator, described in
§ 90.709(e)(7), after successful comple-
tion of testing on the failed engine,
which contains a description of the
remedy and test results for each engine
in addition to other information that
may be required by this part.

(h) Once a certificate for a failed en-
gine family has been suspended pursu-
ant to paragraph (b) or (c) of this sec-
tion, the manufacturer must take the
following actions before the Adminis-
trator will consider reinstating the cer-
tificate:

(1) Submit a written report to the
Administrator which identifies the rea-
son for the noncompliance of the en-
gines, describes the proposed remedy,
including a description of any proposed
quality control and/or quality assur-
ance measures to be taken by the man-
ufacturer to prevent future occurrences
of the problem, and states the date on
which the remedies will be imple-
mented; and

(2) Demonstrate that the engine fam-
ily for which the certificate of con-
formity has been suspended does in fact
comply with the regulations of this
part by testing as many engines as
needed so that the CumSum statistic,
as calculated in § 90.708(a), falls below
the action limit. Such testing must
comply with the provisions of this
part. If the manufacturer elects to con-
tinue testing individual engines after
suspension of a certificate, the certifi-
cate is reinstated for any engine actu-
ally determined to be in conformance
with the Family Emission Limits (or

standards if no FEL) through testing in
accordance with the applicable test
procedures, provided that the Adminis-
trator has not revoked the certificate
pursuant to paragraph (f) of this sec-
tion.

(i) Once the certificate has been re-
voked for an engine family, if the man-
ufacturer desires to continue introduc-
tion into commerce of a modified
version of that family, the following
actions must be taken before the Ad-
ministrator may issue a certificate for
that modified family:

(1) If the Administrator determines
that the proposed change(s) in engine
design may have an effect on emission
performance deterioration, the Admin-
istrator shall notify the manufacturer
within five working days after receipt
of the report in paragraph (h)(1) of this
section whether subsequent testing
under this subpart will be sufficient to
evaluate the proposed change or
changes or whether additional testing
will be required;

(2) After implementing the change or
changes intended to remedy the non-
conformity, the manufacturer must
demonstrate that the modified engine
family does in fact conform with the
regulations of this part by testing as
many engines as needed from the modi-
fied engine family so that the CumSum
statistic, as calculated in § 90.708(a)
using the newly assigned FEL if appli-
cable, falls below the action limit; and

(3) When the requirements of para-
graphs (i)(1) and (i)(2) of this section
are met, the Administrator shall re-
issue the certificate or issue a new cer-
tificate, as the case may be, to include
that family. As long as the CumSum
statistic remains above the action
limit, the revocation remains in effect.

(j) At any time subsequent to a sus-
pension of a certificate of conformity
for a test engine pursuant to paragraph
(a) of this section, but not later than 15
days (or such other period as may be
allowed by the Administrator) after no-
tification of the Administrator’s deci-
sion to suspend or revoke a certificate
of conformity in whole or in part pur-
suant to paragraph (b), (c), or (f) of this
section, a manufacturer may request a
hearing as to whether the tests have
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been properly conducted or any sam-
pling methods have been properly ap-
plied.

(k) Any suspension of a certificate of
conformity under paragraph (d) of this
section shall:

(1) Be made only after the manufac-
turer concerned has been offered an op-
portunity for a hearing conducted in
accordance with §§ 90.712 and 90.713; and

(2) Not apply to engines no longer in
the possession of the manufacturer.

(l) After the Administrator suspends
or revokes a certificate of conformity
pursuant to this section and prior to
the commencement of a hearing under
§ 90.712, if the manufacturer dem-
onstrates to the Administrator’s satis-
faction that the decision to suspend or
revoke the certificate was based on er-
roneous information, the Adminis-
trator shall reinstate the certificate.

(m) To permit a manufacturer to
avoid storing non-test engines while
conducting subsequent testing of the
noncomplying family, a manufacturer
may request that the Administrator
conditionally reinstate the certificate
for that family. The Administrator
may reinstate the certificate subject to
the following condition: the manufac-
turer must commit to performing off-
setting measures that remedy the non-
conformity at no expense to the own-
ers, and which are approved in advance
by the Administrator for all engines of
that family produced from the time the
certificate is conditionally reinstated
if the CumSum statistic does not fall
below the action limit.

§ 90.712 Request for public hearing.
(a) If the manufacturer disagrees

with the Administrator’s decision to
suspend or revoke a certificate or dis-
putes the basis for an automatic sus-
pension pursuant to § 90.711(a), the
manufacturer may request a public
hearing.

(b) The manufacturer’s request shall
be filed with the Administrator not
later than 15 days after the Adminis-
trator’s notification of his or her deci-
sion to suspend or revoke, unless other-
wise specified by the Administrator.
The manufacturer shall simultaneously
serve two copies of this request upon
the Manager of the Engine Compliance
Programs Group and file two copies

with the Hearing Clerk for the Agency.
Failure of the manufacturer to request
a hearing within the time provided
constitutes a waiver of the right to a
hearing. Subsequent to the expiration
of the period for requesting a hearing
as of right, the Administrator may, in
his or her discretion and for good cause
shown, grant the manufacturer a hear-
ing to contest the suspension or rev-
ocation.

(c) A manufacturer shall include in
the request for a public hearing:

(1) A statement as to which engine
configuration(s) within a family is to
be the subject of the hearing; and

(2) A concise statement of the issues
to be raised by the manufacturer at the
hearing, except that in the case of the
hearing requested under § 90.711(j), the
hearing is restricted to the following
issues:

(i) Whether tests have been properly
conducted (specifically, whether the
tests were conducted in accordance
with applicable regulations under this
part and whether test equipment was
properly calibrated and functioning);

(ii) Whether sampling plans and sta-
tistical analyses have been properly ap-
plied (specifically, whether sampling
procedures and statistical analyses
specified in this subpart were followed
and whether there exists a basis for
distinguishing engines produced at
plants other than the one from which
engines were selected for testing which
would invalidate the Administrator’s
decision under § 90.711(c));

(3) A statement specifying reasons
why the manufacturer believes it will
prevail on the merits of each of the
issues raised; and

(4) A summary of the evidence which
supports the manufacturer’s position
on each of the issues raised.

(d) A copy of all requests for public
hearings will be kept on file in the Of-
fice of the Hearing Clerk and will be
made available to the public during
Agency business hours.

§ 90.713 Administrative procedures for
public hearing.

The administrative procedures for a
public hearing requested under this
subpart shall be those procedures set
forth in the regulations found at
§§ 90.513 through 90.516. References in
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§ 90.513 to § 90.511(j), § 90.512(c)(2),
§ 90.511(e), § 90.512, § 90.511(d), § 90.503,
§ 90.512(c) and § 90.512(b) shall be deemed
to mean § 90.711(j), § 90.712(c)(2),
§ 90.711(e), § 90.712, § 90.711(d), § 90.703,
and § 90.712(c) and § 90.712(b), respec-
tively. References to ‘‘test orders’’ in
§ 90.513 are not applicable.

Subpart I—Emission-Related De-
fect Reporting Requirements,
Voluntary Emission Recall Pro-
gram, Ordered Recalls

§ 90.801 Applicability.

(a) The requirements of subpart I are
applicable to all nonroad engines and
vehicles subject to the provisions of
subpart A of part 90. The requirement
to report emission-related defects af-
fecting a given class or category of en-
gines will remain applicable for five
years from the end of the calendar year
in which such engines were manufac-
tured.

(b) Phase 2 engines subject to provi-
sions of subpart B of this part are sub-
ject to recall regulations specified in 40
CFR part 85, subpart S, except as oth-
erwise provided in this section.

(c) Reference to section 214 of the
Clean Air Act in 40 CFR 85.1801(a) is
deemed to mean section 216 of the
Clean Air Act.

(d) Reference to section 202 of the Act
in 40 CFR 85.1802(a) is deemed to mean
section 213 of the Act.

(e) Reference to ‘‘family particulate
emission limits’’ as defined in part 86
promulgated under section 202 of the
Act’’ in 40 CFR 85.1803(a) and
85.1805(a)(1) is deemed to mean ‘‘family
emission limits’’ as defined in subpart
C of this part 90 promulgated under
section 213 of the Act’’.

(f) Reference to ‘‘vehicles or engines’’
throughout 40 CFR part 85, subpart S is
deemed to mean ‘‘Phase 2 nonroad
small SI engines at or below 19 kW.’’

(g) In addition to the requirements in
40 CFR 85.1805(a)(9) for Phase 2 engines
include a telephone number provided
by the manufacturer, which may be
used to report difficulty in obtaining
recall repairs.

[60 FR 34598, July 3, 1995, as amended at 64
FR 15251, Mar. 30, 1999]

§ 90.802 Definitions.

The definitions in subpart A of this
part apply to this subpart. All terms
not defined herein or in subpart A have
the meaning given them in the Act.
The definitions of 40 CFR 85.1801 also
apply to this part.

Emission-related defect means a defect
in design, materials, or workmanship
in a device, system, or assembly de-
scribed in the approved application for
certification which affects any applica-
ble parameter or specification enumer-
ated in 40 CFR part 85, Appendix VIII.

Voluntary emission recall means a re-
pair, adjustment, or modification pro-
gram voluntarily initiated and con-
ducted by a manufacturer to remedy
any emission-related defect for which
notification of engine owners has been
provided.

[60 FR 34598, July 3, 1995, as amended at 64
FR 15251, Mar. 30, 1999]

§ 90.803 Emission defect information
report.

(a) A manufacturer must file a defect
information report whenever, on the
basis of data obtained subsequent to
the effective date of these regulations:

(1) The manufacturer determines, in
accordance with procedures established
by the manufacturer to identify either
safety-related or performance defects,
that a specific emission-related defect
exists; and

(2) A specific emission-related defect
exists in 25 or more engines of a given
engine family manufactured in the
same certificate or model year.

(b) No report must be filed under this
section for any emission-related defect
corrected prior to the sale of the af-
fected engines to ultimate purchasers.

(c) The manufacturer must submit
defect information reports to EPA’s
Engine Compliance Programs Group
not more than 15 working days after an
emission-related defect is found to af-
fect 25 or more engines manufactured
in the same certificate or model year.
Information required by paragraph (d)
of this section that is either not avail-
able within 15 working days or is sig-
nificantly revised must be submitted to
EPA’s Engine Compliance Programs
Group as it becomes available.
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